IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL COLEMAN,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE D OF THE FACTS

The evidence at trial established that an organization headed by Ronald "Trick" Williams and known as the "Miami Boys" sold crack cocaine and had its headquarters in Miami. The organization had lieutenants in charge of supervising workers who sold crack in various metropolitan areas throughout the state. The lieutenant in charge of the Pensacola area was Bruce "Jit" Frazier, the brother of co-defendant, Darrell "Yoge" Frazier. Some of the workers who testified at trial are Lamar Eady, (C-613), Clarence Oliver, Jr., (R-641), Sheldon Henry, (R-766) and James Edward Wheeler (R-1597).

Bruce Frazier had an apartment at the Beauclerc apartment in Pensacola where the crack cocaine and money belonging to the organization were kept. He also had a girlfriend named Renee Grandison (R-738) who lived in Truman Arms apartments in Pensacola. Just prior to September 20, 1988, Renee Grandison became upset at Bruce Frazier and threatened to call the law and tell them about his drug dealings.

Because of his concern that she would carry out her threats, Bruce Frazier caused the safe containing the crack and the money to be moved to the apartment of Michael "Gas"

McCormick located on Gulf Beach Highway in the Pleasant Grove Community. McCormick had worked for the organization and occupied that **duplex** apartment with Mildred Baker. The adjacent apartment was inhabited by Derek "Dog" Hill and Morris Alphonso Douglas, also known as "Bo".

Soon after the safe was moved to the McCormick apartment, it came into the possession of Derek Hill and Morris Alphonso Douglas who took the safe to the home of Tina Crenshaw, also known as Darlene Lutley. While at the Crenshaw home, they borrowed Tina Crenshaw's father's tools and were able to open the safe and display its contents to Tina Crenshaw and her friend, Amanda Merrell. They counted out 23 zip-lock bags of crack and a large sum of money (R-1182-1183).

The party of Hill, Douglas, Crenshaw and Merrell then attended the dog track and stopped at Foster's Barbeque before retiring to Hill's duplex apartment to eat the barbeque and watch video tapes. Shortly after their arrival, Derek Hill opened the door to find McCormick accompanied by three other black males who had guns. Another black man later brought Mildred Baker from the apartment next door at gunpoint. One of the individuals known as "Red" and later identified as

Timothy Robinson, made everybody strip, sit down and **shut up**. (R-1295) He "beat down" McCormick and told Darrell **Frazier** to tie them **all** up tight with electrical cords snatched **from** appliances. "Red" then pointed his gun in everybody's **face** and stabbed Derek Hill with a knife. (R-1296-1297).

At that point, Tina Crenshaw told them **she** knew where to find the "stuff" they were **looking** for and "Red" took her into another room to interrogate her. She then left the **premises** with Darrell and Bruce Frazier after being allowed to **dress**.

Tina Crenshaw was taken home to retrieve the crack and money which Hill **and** Douglas left with her. (R-1189) Upon providing **the** same to Darrell Frazier, she **was** left unharmed and spent the remainder of the evening riding around without calling the law. (R-1215) .

While the Fraziers and Tina Crenshaw were gone, **Amanda Merrell and Mildred Baker** had sex with "Red" **and** an individual known **as** "Max". "Max" was identified at trial **as** Appellant Michael Coleman. (R-1300-1301) DNA examination established that Timothy "Red" Robinson was involved in **sexual** activity with both women, **but** did not **support** the presence of Appellant Michael Coleman's DNA. (R-1055)

Upon the Fraziers return, Amanda Merrell heard one of

them tell "Red", "we got what **we** want, come on, let's go". "Red" responded, "no, I am going to do **this**". "Max" then cut Merrell's throat and **was** standing in the doorway cleaning his knife when Amanda heard Mildred Baker beg "Red" not to shoot her. She then heard a gunshot. (R-1303-1304) The individuals left, Amanda Merrell discovered the bodies and called 911. She further testified that "Max" had a knife, not a gun and did not shoot anyone. (R-1376-1377)

Appellant **was** charged in a seventeen count indictment (R-2106) with four counts of **First Degree Murder**, one count each of attempted murder, burglary and trafficking in cocaine; **two** counts of robbery; two counts of sexual battery and **six** counts of kidnapping. The jury returned guilty verdicts on **all** counts.

Appellant (R-2032) and his mother, Dolly Leverson (R-2029) testified in the penalty **phase**. The **State** presented testimony from Amanda Merrell (R-2004). The jury recommended against imposition of the death penalty and gratuitously wrote on the verdict form that **their** vote **was six** to six. (R-2447) Appellant filed a Motion **for** New Trial (R-2470) which **was** denied. The **Court overrode** the recommendation of the jury and imposed the death penalty **for** the **four** counts of **First Degree Murder** after considering arguments and a memorandum in opposition thereto (R-2615).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Sever and the frequent renewals thereof where the highlight of the trial was a drug conspiracy and Appellant was not established to be a part thereof. Appellant was prejudiced by frequent references to a co-defendant's brother and the alibi defense employed by the other co-defendant. The jury confused the evidence concerning DNA results of the co-defendants resulting in a great miscarriage of justice.

When the jury sent the trial court a question in an attempt to clear up that confusion, the court refused to answer the question, did not read them essential testimony and denied a motion for mistrial.

The trial court further erred in allowing the State to peremptorily challenge two black jurors without an adequate race-neutral explanation, relying upon a numbers game instead of focusing on whether any juror was improperly excused on the basis of race.

The trial court improperly denied Appellant's Motion to Suppress In Court Identification and allowed three State witnesses to testify even though the evidence indicated a substantial likelihood of misidentification.

The trial court again erred in overriding the jury's recommendation that Appellant be sentenced to life imprisonment. The trial judge imposed the death penalty even though statutory and non-statutory mitigating circumstances existed which could have formed the basis for the jury recommendation. Appellant was not the "triggerman" and the death penalty for this felony murder is a disproportionate sentence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SEVER AND THE RENEWALS THEREOF?

Appellant filed a Motion to Sever (R-2273) which was denied pretrial by the Court (T-26). It was first renewed **after** the **State's** opening statement established that **it would** concentrate on the **drug** conspiracy **aspect** of the **case**. The Court denied the motion (R-602).

As referenced in U.S. -v- Castro, 829 F.2d 1038 (11th Cir. 1987), the State attempted to establish what is referred to **as** a "wheel" conspiracy. It sought to establish that either Ronald "**Trick**" Williams or Bruce "**Jit**" Frazier was **the** "hub" of the wheel and **that** witnesses such **as** Lamar Eady, Gwen Cochran, James Wheeler, Clarence Oliver, Sheldon Henry and the Defendant's **were** the "**spokes**".

Although there **was** testimony establishing that Defendants Darrell Frazier and Timothy Robinson **were** involved in transporting cocaine **from** Miami to Pensacola and **their** fingerprints were found in Bruce Frazier's Beauclerc apartment, there was no evidence to establish that Michael Coleman was in any way involved in a **drug** trafficking conspiracy which became

the highlight of the trial with resulting prejudice to the appellant.

Gwen Cochran (R-733) testified that Appellant, known to her as **Mac George**, did not work for Ronald "Trick" Williams and that she had only seen him on the streets of Miami with "Trick". She further stated that Appellant was not in Pensacola motels along with Frazier and Robinson.

Therefore, the **wheel** referred to in Castro is not **only** missing the "rim" required by that **case**, but there **is** no evidence that Appellant **was** one of the "**spokes**". Appellant is not tied by a "common thread" to the other participants in the conspiracy **as** set out as the litmus test in United States v. Weinstein, 762 F. 2d 1522 (11th Cir. 1985) .

In United States -v- McLain, 823 F.2d 1457 (11th Cir. 1987) the Eleventh Circuit said:

The Defendant **is** still entitled to a severance **if** he **can** show specific and compelling **pre-judice** due to the counts being joined, **i.e.**, by showing that the **jury** could not keep the evidence against each defendant **separate**.

That prejudice **could not** be more clearly indicated than **by** the **jury** question (T-1963) indicating confusion **as** to whether Appellant's blood matched DNA samples taken from **vaginal** swabs taken from the sexual battery victims. Expert **testimony** had established a **positive** match **for** defendant Robinson, but not **for**

Coleman. The Court's refusal to instruct them further on that issue coupled with the jury's obvious confusion due to the misjoinder of the Defendants demonstrates obvious prejudice with relation to the most critical evidence in the trial.

Rule 3.152 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure mandates a severance of defendants herein and as **this** Court said in Kritzman ~~v.~~ State, 520 So. 2d 570, "The fundamental right to a fair trial can never be overridden by the convenience and expediency that a joint trial may produce". It is obvious from the record that Appellant's Motions to Sever were denied because the State and the Court would have been inconvenienced by presenting and hearing witnesses who were held in jail with their sentences withheld to encourage their testimony against appellant.

The record demonstrates that Appellant's alibi defense **was** antagonistic to the defense of Darrell Frazier who did not testify and denigrated by the defense of Timothy Robinson who tried to establish he was in New Jersey in the face of overwhelming DNA evidence of his presence at the crime scene,

The misjoinder with Darrell Frazier, the brother of Bruce "Jit" Frazier who **was** much nearer the "hub" than other participants accentuated the prejudice where the State concentrated on the activities of "Jit" and his relationship to Darrell.

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN **FAILING**
TO **ANSWER** JURY QUESTION, READ THEM
TESTIMONY OR GRANT MISTRIAL?

The jury interrupted their deliberations to present the Court with a written question (R-1963) asking whether the vaginal swabs taken from Mildred Baker and Amanda Merrell matched the blood taken from Appellant. Despite Appellant's counsel's request that the jury be instructed that the samples did **not** match, the Court denied that request and told the jury they must rely on their own recollection of the evidence.

Appellant immediately moved for **a** mistrial on the basis that if the jury **was** confused on such a critical **matter** of evidence, **it** was incapable of deciding guilt or innocence. **The Court** denied the motion, stating that only one juror had signed below that question, presuming that only one juror was so confused. That remark of the Court, standing alone should be sufficient to require a reversal herein. **It** is elementary that a conviction in a criminal case **requires** a unanimous verdict and if even one juror is sufficiently confused **or** uninformed, the verdict is a nullity.

Dr. **Lisa** Forman, the DNA expert testified (R-1053) that "the

blood of Michael Coleman did not match with the DNA taken from the vaginal swabs and the anal **swabs**. that were presented", and "that we did not find any DNA associated with a blood standard provided for Michael Coleman in any of the evidence that **we** were provided with. "

The Court should minimally have read that testimony to the jury to absolve the confusion on a material and crucial **issue** as required by the Court in La Monte -v- State, 145 So. 2d 889, quoting from Penton -v- State, 106 So. 2d 577, (1958):

We realize that the question is a close one but we also realize that there was considerable doubt in the jury's mind concerning the very testimony which they wished read to them and this testimony was material to the case. The testimony was taken down and the failure of the court to have **it** read **back** to the jury at their request was error, and by the very nature of the testimony, the error **was** not harmless.

Coupled with the Court's denial of Appellant's Motion to Sever which caused the confusion with Co-Defendant Robinson's positive DNA results, the error is compounded and **requires** reversal.

-SSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING
**THE STATE TO PEREMPTORILY CHALLENGE
A BLACK JUROR WITHOUT AN ADEQUATE
RACE-NEUTRAL EXPLANATION?**

Appellant and his co-defendants **are** black (R-445). The State exercised two peremptory challenges of black jurors without an adequate Race-neutral explanation although the Court found the explanation to be sufficient.

Black jurors Velma Horne and Carolyn Freeman were challenged by the State with peremptory challenges. Appellant's counsel (R-442) **asked** that the State show cause why they were stricken for reasons other than their race and objected to their being excused. (R-444)

The State responded that Ms. Freeman **was** challenged because she **opposed** the death penalty (R-444), but acknowledged that under close questioning, she said she could follow the Court's instructions.

The State explained its challenge to Ms. Borne by saying that she knew Jocelyn Moultrie who **was** alleged to be a participant in the conspiracy. (R-443) However, Jocelyn Moultrie **was** not a witness at trial and the State did not establish whether Ms. Horne had a favorable opinion of Ms. Moultrie so as to prejudice the State in any manner.

The Court accepted the State's explanation (R-445) noting that **one** of the defendants had struck a black juror **for cause** (R-446) and later (R-516) **noted** that Appellant struck prospective black juror, Clanford Williams.

Although the Court attempted to comply with this Court's opinions in State -v- Slappy, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988) and State -v- Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), it did not have the benefit of later cases condemning the methodology used by the honorable trial judge.

The trial judge in Williams -v- State, 14 FLW 2462 (Oct. 1989)(1DCA) noted that the Defendant had struck **a black juror**, but the First District reversed, saying that "the trial court's comments suggest a concern with whether any blacks would be available in the venire to serve on the jury rather than whether any particular juror was improperly excused solely on the basis of race, contrary to the Supreme Court's admonition in Slappy".

The Fourth District in Mayer -v- State, 14 FLW 2382 (4 DCA) (Oct. 1989) likewise stated:

The state contends before us that two members of the sworn jury panel were black and that the exclusion of **only one black juror** foreclosed a pattern of **systematic elimination inspired by race**. The mere fact, however, that one or more members of the minority group had been seated

does not establish the absence of racial discrimination. The issue is not whether several jurors have been excused because of their race, but whether any juror has been excused, independent of any other.

Any doubt as to whether the state has met its burden to rebut the likelihood of the presence of racial discrimination must be resolved in the defendant's favor. The explanation provided in this case **falls** short of that burden and is not salvaged by the numbers **game indulged** in by the trial court.

ISSUE IV

DID **THE** TRIAL COURT ERR IN
DENYING APPELLANT'S **MOTION**
TO SUPPRESS IN COURT
IDENTIFICATION?

The State sought to introduce the testimony of Amanda Merrell, Tina Crenshaw a/k/a/ Darlene Lutley and Arabella Washington at trial for the purpose of identifying Appellant as a perpetrator of the crimes.

The Appellant filed motions to suppress such testimony and a pre-trial hearing was conducted thereon. (R-59)

The First District Court of Appeal in Pugh -v- State, 46'3 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 1 DCA 1985) best states the rule of law set out by this Court in Grant -v- State, 390 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1980) and the United States Supreme Court in Neil -v- Biggers, 409 U. S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 4401 (1972) as a three-fold inquiry to include:

- (1) Did the police employ an unnecessarily suggestive procedure in obtaining an out-of-court identification;
- (2) If so, considering all the circumstances, did the suggestive procedure give rise to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

The factors to be considered in determining whether a likelihood of misidentification exists include:

The opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' prior description of the criminal, the **level** of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.

It is therefore necessary to examine the identifications of Arabella Washington, Tina Crenshaw and Amanda Merrell individually with regard to the above standard.

Arabella Washington testified (R-178-196) that on September 2, 1988 the date of the alleged crimes, that a person **she** knew as Bruce Frazier's brother, Darrell Frazier, came to her home in Jacksonville early in the morning. **Two** other individuals were in the **car** with Darrell Frazier. She did not **know** them previously and they did not exit the car at her home. The **car** they occupied had darkened windows and she did not see the other two individuals until she followed them to a mall where two individuals she identified **as** Darrell (*Yoge*) Frazier and a slightly taller, darker man left the car and went into a Zayre's Department store. When they returned from the store, the darker man who she identified as the Appellant got into the **back seat** of her car with **a** red-skinned man with gold teeth. She transported them to the airport and left them.

The trip to the airport took approximately fifteen minutes and her **only** view of Appellant **was** in her rear-view

mirror. She saw the person identified as the Appellant walk into the store with Darrell Frazier and said Appellant was **just** a little taller than Frazier, who she estimated to be 5'11". She believed Appellant to be 5'11" or 6' tall.

Upon examination, Arabella Washington admitted that she really didn't pay much attention to any of the guys and didn't pay any attention when the two individuals were walking into the store. (R-195).

Arabella Washington was shown a picture lineup some six and one-half months after the incident. The lineup consisted of between seven and ten pictures. She previously knew three of the individuals to be James Wheeler, **Bruce** Frazier and Darrell Frazier, people she associated with the drug business. Two of the remaining pictures were of Appellant and co-defendant Timothy Robinson.

When initially shown the picture lineup, Ms. Washington could not identify any of the individuals. She **was** subsequently charged with perjury and told that she would be **placed** in jail with a \$100,000.00 bond, whereupon she changed her testimony and identified Appellant's picture and the perjury charges **were** dismissed (R-155).

The suggestiveness of the procedure utilized is apparent on the record from the content of the picture lineup and the perjury charge.

The witness had no valid opportunity to view the alleged criminal because of her view in the mirror, the darkened glass in the car and acknowledgment that she paid no degree of attention.

Her prior description of Appellant was inaccurate because she testified that he was 5'11" or 6' tall when the testimony of court security officer Scott Gulsby established that the Appellant's height is at least 6'5".(R-177) She further testified that the person with gold teeth was light-skinned contrary to the testimony of other witnesses.

The length of time between the crime and the confrontation of Ms. Washington with the photo lineup was about six months.

Darlene Crenshaw who is also referred to as Tina Crenshaw, Darlene Lutley and Tina Lutley testified (R-163-175) that she was present at the murder scene briefly before being taken home by Darrell and Bruce Frazier to retrieve some cocaine and money left at her house by Derek Hill and Alphonso Douglas.

She identified the Appellant as a tall, dark, skinny guy, 6'3", 165 pounds wearing a black jogging suit trimmed in green. According to her, Appellant had no wore that two gold teeth and was about the same height as decedent Michael McCormick.

The autopsy report concerning Michael Anthony McCormick was introduced (R-177) indicating that the deceased was 6'1", weighing 210 to 220 pounds. Security Officer Scott Gulsby testified Appellant is at least 6'5".

Special Agent Don West of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement testified that Appellant has approximately seven gold teeth and that Darlene Crenshaw was not "positive positive" of her identification.

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