IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SO J. Warry

JUL 9 1990

MICHAEL COLEMAN,

Appellant,

Depart Court

٧.

CASE NO. 74,944

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

51 pages - 103

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 28, 1989, Michael Coleman, Timothy Alexander Robinson and Darrell Frazier were indicted by a grand jury in and for Escambia County, Florida, on seventeen counts; four counts of first degree murder of Derek Hill, Morris Douglas, Michael McCormick and Mildred Baker, respectively; one count of attempted first degree murder of Amanda Merrell; six counts of kidnapping of Derek Hill, Morris Douglas, Michael McCormick, Mildred Baker, Amanda Merrell, and Darlene Crenshaw, respectively; two counts of sexual battery of Amanda Merrell and Mildred Baker; one count of conspiracy to traffic more than four hundred grams of cocaine; one count of burglary of a dwelling; and two counts of robbery of Amanda Merrell and Darlene Crenshaw. (RA 2101-2105). A plethora of pretrial motions were filed, most noteworthy to the instant appeal were Coleman's motion to sever (RA 2273), motions for individual and sequestered voir dire: for discovery of prosecutorial investigation of prospective jurors: and motion in limine to prohibit questioning of prospective jurors regarding death penalty (RA 2274), and motions to suppress in-court identification (RA 2334, 2335).

Trial commenced on May 22, 1989 and verdicts as to all seventeen counts of the indictment were returned on June 1, 1989 (RA 2415-2423). The penalty phase of Coleman's trial commenced on June 2, 1989, culminating in a jury recommendation of life by a 6-6 vote (TR 2096). The trial court imposed death over the jury's recommendation and on September 29, 1989, entered its written findings (RA 2609-2614). Coleman's motion for new trial

was filed on June 29, 1989, and was subsequently denied, and his notice of appeal was filed October 19, 1989.

Appellant's recital of the facts is brief and provides only a cursory account of what transpired on September 20, 1988. Appellee would direct this Court's attention to the findings of fact provided by the trial court in its sentencing order as a succinct accounting of what transpired (RA 2609-2611). The court observed:

"Timothy Robinson, Darrell Frazier, Bruce Frazier Michael Coleman were residents of Miami, Florida, who supervised and were associated with a cocaine distribution enterprise headed by Ronald Williams. The enterprise reached as far as Pensacola, Florida, and employed intermediate associates to oversee streetlevel employees responsible for the distribution and sale of quantities of cocaine which were usually sent from Miami minimal lots of one kilo for subsequent division and sale. On or about September 18, 1988, local members of the enterprise became concerned over the security of their operations and moved a safe containing a large quantity of cocaine and cash from one apartment to another apartment occupied by Michael Anthony McCormick, one of the enterprise's street-level employees. Adjacent to his duplex apartment resided Derek Devon Hill and Morris Alfonso Douglas. Shortly after the safe and contents were deposited at McCormick's apartment, Hill and Douglas gained entry to it and removed the safe and its contents to the home of a female acquaintance, Darlene Crenshaw.

Angered by the theft of their drugs and money, members of the enterprise, including the defendants Robinson, Coleman and Frazier, began to search Pensacola for their property. search ultimately took them to the duplex apartment of Hill and Douglas. Near midnight of September 19, 1988, or in the early morning hours of September 20, 1988, Hill and Douglas were entertaining Amanda Merrell and Darlene Crenshaw at their apartment when they heard a knock at their door. As Hill opened the door McCormick was pushed through it by three armed men, defendants Robinson and Coleman and Bruce Frazier. In the aftermath that followed, the four occupants of the apartment along with McCormick were first completely undressed and then tied up face down with electrical cords. About this time defendant Darrell Frazier brought in McCormick's girlfriend, Mildred Baker, and she was subjected to the same treatment. Defendant Robinson began to demand the whereabouts of the cocaine and money stolen from the enterprise. When his demands went unanswered, Robinson began to stab Hill while the other defendant physically assaulted some of the other hostages with kitchen knifes. At this point, Darlene Crenshaw volunteered she knew the location of the missing property and agreed to show defendants its location. As she departed with the Frazier brothers, Robinson instructed Darrell Frazier to kill Crenshaw if she presented any problems. After they departed, Coleman and Robinson each sexually assaulted Mildred Baker and Amanda Merrell at the apartment.

the meantime, Darrell and Bruce Frazier, having retrieved the contraband and having returned to Hill's and Douglas's apartment, informed Robinson of their success. Without provocation, there began a senseless carnage. Coleman first attempted to kill Amanda Merrell by slashing her throat several times. Still conscious, she heard several shots and then Mildred Baker pleaded with Robinson to spare her life. She then heard another shot and nothing further from Baker. Immediately thereafter, someone came up behind Merrell and shot in the back of the head, but this wound proved not to be fatal. After the assailants left the premises, Merrell was able to free herself and to summon assistance. Investigators who arrived in response to her call found at the scene the four bound mutilated bodies of Hill, Douglas, McCormick and Baker, each of whom had been slashed, stabbed and shot at the base of the skull. along with Darlene Crenshaw, who had been able to escape unharmed from Darrell and Bruce Frazier, were able to identify their abductors and assailants. Robinson, Coleman and Darrell Frazier were eventually arrested and brought to trial. Bruce Frazier remains a fugitive. At the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial, Coleman was found guilty of four counts of first degree murder; one count of attempted first degree murder; six counts of armed kidnapping; two counts of sexual battery with a weapon; one count of conspiracy to traffic in more than four hundred grams of cocaine; one count of armed burglary of an occupied dwelling; and two counts of armed robbery." (RA 2609-2611).

The aforecited summary was adduced based on facts presented at trial. The State called a number of witnesses who testified to the drug dealings that had occured in Pensacola, Florida, and to the parties involved in said drug dealings. Germane to the murders sub judice, Arabella Washington was called by the State and she testified that on September 20, 1988, Bruce Frazier's brother Darrell (Yoge) Frazier stopped by her house and asked to use her telephone. After he spoke to someone on the phone, Darrell Frazier asked her to take him and his buddies to the Jacksonville Airport (TR 1068-1069). On the way, they stopped at the Gateway Mall at which time three black men exited from a black mustang, went into the Zayre's Department Store and returned to her car. (TR 1071). They changed clothes in her car with stuff they had purchased at the Zayre's Department Store. (TR 1075). Ms. Washington said that the clothes they put on were beige colored uniforms. (TR 1075-1076). She gave a description of each of the individuals (TR 1099, 1100-1103), and testified that when she was first approached by the police she told them nothing because she was afraid. She knew one of the three men who entered her car to be Bruce Frazier's brother Darrell and she identified the other two people as a tall thin dark man who had gold teeth and another black man who was not as tall and a little more stocky.

Cassandra Pritchett was also called to the stand by the State. She testified that she knew Michael Coleman (TR 1147-1148), and that before Thanksgiving 1988, Coleman gave her a ring and watch. (TR 1148-1149). She ultimately turned the ring and watch given to her by Coleman over to the State. (TR 1149).

Mary Grady testified that she was acquainted with Amanda Merrell and that she had allowed Amanda to wear her ruby and diamond ring. (TR 1175-1176). Ms. Grady was able to identify the ring given to Cassandra Pritchett as the ring Ms. Grady allowed Amanda Merrell to wear just prior to the murders. (TR 1176).

Darlene Crenshaw was next called to the stand and testified that she knew Amanda Merrell for approximately five years. 1178). She testified that she met Derek Hill and Morris Douglass (Bo) at the dog track several days prior to the day of the (TR 1178-1179). Two days before the incident on Sunday night, Derek and Bo came over to her home and asked if they could leave something in the house. Bo and Derek took a safe from out of the trunk of their car and put it in a 1981 Honda Accord parked in Darlene Crenshaw's driveway. (TR 1180). The next day they came over and took the safe out of the trunk, brought it in the backyard and opened it. Although Darlene did not actually see the safe being opened, she did observe that after Bo and Derek went to the backyard, they returned with crack slabs broken down into twenty-three bags and a great deal of money. (TR 1181-Darlene took the money and hid it in a pillowcase in a closet in one of the bedrooms and Bo and Derek took the drugs and put it in a green duffle bag belonging to her husband and left it in her car. (TR 1183-1184). Bo and Derek left for a couple of hours and when they returned, Darlene Crenshaw, Amanda Merrell, Bo and Derek all went to the dog track at approximately 7:00 p.m. (TR 1184). After all the races were run, they left the dog track

at 10:45 p.m. and went to Foster's Bar-B-Que Restaurant on Navy Boulevard. (TR 1185). They took their food and went to Derek's apartment at Gulf Beach Highway in Pleasant Grove and arrived at approximately 11:05 p.m. (TR 1185). Darlene Crenshaw testified that they started to eat their food and Derek put a tape on and suddenly these was a knock on the door. Derek answered and a "guy came in" and three other black men followed him. (TR **1186).** The three black men that followed were armed and at that point, Derek asked what was up. Derek was pushed down on the couch and Red, Timothy Robinson, told him he wanted his stuff. They were told not to say anything and instructed to undress. (TR 1186). Darlene Crenshaw testified that it looked like the first guy who entered through the door was a hostage and that the guys behind him were holding guns on him. One of the other black men with a weapon went throughout the house searching around; another pulled electrical cords and wiring; and the third man told them all to undress. (TR 1187). During this period, one of the black men started stabbing Derek in the shoulder. Darlene Crenshaw raised her hand and told the three men that she knew where the money She was immediately carried to another room and asked what she knew. She told them about Derek and Bo bringing the money and drugs to her home. She was given her clothes, she got dressed and she was carried back into the living room. They tied her up and carried her out the front door. (TR 1187-1188). Bruce and Darrell Frazier accompanied Darlene Crenshaw to her (TR 1189). When she gat there, one of the black men went to her front door and gained entry. When he couldn't locate the

drugs and money, he returned to the car and Darlene accompanied him back into the house and retrieved both the drugs and the money. Darlene was able to close the front door behind Darrell Frazier and lock it. The two black men left. (TR 1192). When she undressed they had taken her jewelry, in particular a watch, ring and earrings. She testified that she did not give the jewelry up willingly but did so at gunpoint (TR 1193). As soon a3 the men left her house, she took her mother and kids and left the house and rode around the remainder of the evening. (TR 1193-1195).

Willa Crenshaw, Darlene's mother, took the stand testified that at approximately 12:20 a.m., September 20, 1988, a black man came to her door and identified himself as Terry. said that he was sorry he woke her up but he wanted to retrieve a package Tina had left there that afternoon. Darrell Frazier walked into the house and into Tina's room where the children were asleep and after he rummaged around a moment, came back out. (TR 1235-1237). He returned a few minutes later with Tina and at that point, Tina took him to the bedroom next to the children's Mrs. Crenshaw testified that she heard talking but they were whispering and she could not make out what they were saying. When Tina and Frazier got to the door, Tina pushed him out and slammed the door and shut it. She positively identified one of the persons as Darrell Frazier, the individual who entered her home that evening. (TR 1238). Mrs. Crenshaw testified on crossexamination that she got a good look at him because he was under the porch light that evening and that she did not observe any

gold teeth in his mouth. She testified that his height was about 5'8" tall. (TR 1241).

Amanda Merrell testified that she met Bo and Derek in August 1988, at the Pensacola dog track. She again saw them on September 20, 1988, at the dog track when they came to pick her up and asked her to go with them to Tina's house. (TR 1286). When they arrived, they pulled their car into the driveway and took a safe out of the trunk. They brought the safe out back and opened it, using Tina's father's tools. (TR 1287-1288). and Amanda were sitting on the car porch and did not see theactually open the safe. When Bo and Derek returned, however, they had drugs and money. (TR 1289). Before he left, Derek gave Tina the money to hide in a closet in the house and he hid the drugs in a duffle bag in Tina's car. Amanda Merrell testified that Bo and Derek returned several hours later around 7:00 p.m. All four went to the dog track. (TR 1290-1291). After they left the dog track at approximately 10:45 p.m. and after stopping at Foster's Bar-B-Que, they went to Derek's house at Gulf Beach Highway, approximately ten minutes away. (TR 1292). started eating and Derek put a tape on the VCR. Amanda testified (TR 1293). Derek answered the door and she heard a knock. Amanda Merrell testified that a big man known as "Gas" appeared at the door. Behind him was "Red", "Max" and a little guy named "Jit", all carrying guns except for "Gas". (TR 1294). Gas came in the door and said to Derek that these guys wanted their stuff and they were not playing around. (TR 1294). Red told everyone to **sit** down and **shutup**. Everyone was made to **strip** pursuant to

Amanda Merrell's testimony, and one of the men searched the area looking for any guns. When nobody would tell them where his stuff was, Red started to beat up Gas.

Amanda Merrell was able to positively identify Red Timothy Robinson and Max as Michael Coleman. (TR 1296). told everyone to start talking and then he went into the kitchen and returned with a knife. He then proceeded to start stabbing Derek in the shoulder. (TR 1297). Amanda Merrell testified Tina raised her hand and said that she knew where the drugs and money were located. Red took her to the other room and questioned her. Moments later, Jit came out and asked which were Tina's clothes and returned to the bedroom with them. (TR 1297). Merrell testified, Bo, Derek, Tina, herself, the three guys that had entered the apartment, Gas, Jit and the girl who had just been brought in to the apartment, Mildred, were present. (TR 1298). Red told Darrell Frazier and his brother, Bruce, to take Tina to the apartment and that if she tried to escape they were to kill her. (TR 1299). After they left, **Red** told Max (Coleman) if anyone said anything to start shooting, starting with Amanda. Amanda Merrell testified that everyone was tied up with extension cord and electrical wiring at their hands and ankles and they were made to lie face down on the floor.

They put Mildred and Amanda together and not soon after, Michael Coleman came over and put his hands between Amanda's legs and told Red that he was gonna get some of this. He then made her get on her knees and he raped her. (TR 1300-1301). Amanda Merrell testified that Red started messing with Mildred, having

sex with her on the living room floor. Thereafter, Red changed and started having sex with her and Coleman had sex with Mildred. (TR 1301). At this point, Coleman came back over to Amanda and tried to lift her up but could not. He made her stand up and then he took her to the bedroom where he untied her legs and raped her still another time. (TR 1302). Red started calling for him but he waited and then he finally left. Amanda Merrell testified that she heard someone come to the door and say that they "got the stuff, let's go''. She then heard Red say no, he had to do this. (TR 1303).

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